1956

Jack Aldon Hewitt v. The General Tire and Rubber Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In this case, at the conclusion of the presentation of evidence, the respondent made a motion for a directed verdict which motion the court took under advisement pending the verdict of the jury. The jury returned a verdict in favor of the appellant on April 23, 1953 (R. 3). On the same date the clerk signed and entered the judgment on the verdict (R. 4). Thereafter the respondent renewed its motion for directed verdict and in the alternative for a new trial (R. 5-6). The court granted the motion for a directed verdict and entered judgment not-

withstanding the verdict in favor of the respondent, no cause of action (R. 8-9). From this judgment the appellant appealed and this court on May 24, 1955, filed its decision reversing the trial court and ordering that the judgment upon the jury verdict be reinstated (R. 11-15). Upon denial of the petition for rehearing the remittitur was issued December 2, 1955 (R. 10). The respondent made a motion to deny interest and retax costs which was heard on January 25, 1956, and the District Court made and entered an order disallowing the appellant's interest from the date of the judgment on the verdict to the date of the order entered by the Supreme Court denying the petition for rehearing (R. 18, 23). From this order appellant has filed this appeal.

STATEMENT OF POINT UPON WHICH APPELLANT RELIES

The appellant is entitled to interest on the verdict and the judgment from April 23, 1953, until paid.

ARGUMENT

Section 15-1-4, *Utah Code Annotated*, 1953, provides that the judgment obtained in this case shall bear interest at the rate of 8% per annum. Rule 54 (e) provides as follows:

“(e) *Interest and Costs to be Included in the Judgment.* The clerk must include in any judgment signed by him any interest on the verdict or decision from the time it was rendered, and the costs, if the same have been taxed or ascer-

tained. The clerk must, within two days after the costs have been taxed or ascertained, in any case where not included in the judgment, insert the amount thereof in a blank left in the judgment for that purpose, and make a similar notation thereof in the Register of Actions and in the Judgment Docket.”

It is the view of the Appellant that Rule 54 (e) is decisive of the question now before this Court, as it requires the Clerk to include in the judgment signed by him any interest on the verdict or decision from the date it was rendered. Both the verdict and the judgment on the verdict were entered on April 23, 1953. It has been similarly decided in California, which has a statute substantially identical to ours. Section 1035, *California Code of Civil Procedure*, provides as follows:

“The Clerk must include in the judgment entered up by him any interest on the verdict or decision of the court from the date it was rendered or made, and the costs, if the same have been taxed or ascertained; and he must, within two days after the same are taxed or ascertained, if not included in the judgment, insert the same in a blank left in the judgment for that purpose, and must make a similar insertion of the costs in the copies and docket of the judgment.”

The above section was re-enacted in 1933 as part of Section 1033 of the *California Code of Civil Procedure*.

We desire to refer the court to the case of *Bond vs. United States Railroad of San Francisco* (1911) (Calif.) 113 P. 2d 366. In that case the jury returned a general verdict in the amount of \$4,500.00 and the jury also made

answer to certain particular questions of fact. On the basis of those answers, the defendant moved the court to return a judgment to the plaintiff for \$405.00 and no more, which motion the trial court granted. The plaintiff appealed, and the Appellant Court ordered that the court below enter judgment for the plaintiff in the amount of the general verdict of \$4,500.00. In applying the above-mentioned California statute, the court held as follows (at page 373):

“The appellant asks the court to modify the judgment heretofore given by adding a direction that in giving the judgment in the court below the accrued interest on the verdict shall be included. Our consideration of the verdict and judgment was entirely in relation to the state of the case at the time the judgment appealed from was given in the court below. It was with reference to that period that we directed the entry of judgment by that court for the sum of \$4,500 upon the going down of the remittitur. There was no intention to restrict the power of the court below, or of its clerk, to perform the ministerial duty of computing the interest which has accrued between the date of the return of the verdict and the entry of the judgment and including it in the judgment finally entered, as provided by section 1035 of the Code of Civil Procedure. The court below will be at liberty to perform that duty, or see that its clerk does so, notwithstanding the language of the mandate of the decision hereinbefore given by this court.”

See also *Golden Gate Mill and Mining Company vs. Joshua Hendy Machine Works* (Calif.) 23 P. 45; *Degnan vs. Young Brothers' Cattle Co.* (Kan.) 103 P. 2d 918;

Glen vs. Rice (Calif.) 162 P. 1020. In the latter case, the court held that interest ran from the original date of the judgment upon modification of the judgment by the appellant court. See also *Zeidler vs. Goelzer* (Wis.) 211 N.W. 140. In that case, under a statute which directs that interest from the date of the verdict shall be computed by the clerk and added to the costs of the party entitled thereto, it was held that interest should run from the date of the verdict on the original trial even though an intervening new trial was ordered on appeal for the determination of a single issue.

We also desire to refer the court to the case of *Stever vs. Associated Transport, Inc.*, 63 N.Y.S. 2d 606, affirmed in 70 N. E. 2d 169. In that case the jury rendered a verdict in the amount of \$40,000.00. A motion for new trial was made on all the statutory grounds. The court granted the motion on the ground of excessiveness of damages but stipulated for denial of the motion in the event plaintiff would accept a lesser amount of \$22,500.00. The plaintiff failed to accept the reduction and appealed. On appeal the order granting the new trial was affirmed with leave given to the plaintiff to accept the reduced amount. The plaintiff accepted, and included in the amount of the judgment was \$1185.00, interest from the date that the verdict was entered to the date of judgment. It was held that plaintiff was entitled to interest from the date of the verdict.

The case of *Metcalf vs. City of Watertown*, C.C.A. 7th, 68 F. 859, was a suit upon a judgment. In that

case the trial court made a finding to the effect that a judgment had been rendered in the sum averred in the complaint but gave judgment to the defendant on the ground that the statute of limitation barred recovery. Thereafter, the Supreme Court reversed the trial court's order and directed the trial court to enter judgment for the plaintiff on the finding. Afterwards, at the same term of court, the trial court disallowed interest from the date of the original finding and the entry of the judgment from which the plaintiff appealed. The court said at page 864:

“The judgment of the Circuit Court is reversed with costs, and the cause remanded with direction that the appellant be given judgment for the amount due upon the finding of August 2, 1889, including interest to that date, with interest thereon to the date of judgment hereby ordered . . .”

There is a statute in Wisconsin which provides that the clerk shall add interest from the date of the verdict or report.

The United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit has adopted, and in several cases reaffirmed, the rule which we seek this court to apply here. The leading case is *Louisiana and Arkansas Railway Company vs. Pratt*, C.C.A. 5th, 142 F. 2d 847. In that case the plaintiff brought a suit under the F.E.L.A. and obtained a verdict for \$5,000.00, but the trial court entered judgment non obstante veredicto for the defendant. On appeal the judgment was reversed and the cause

remanded with instructions that judgment be entered upon the verdict. The judgment entered pursuant to the mandate allowed interest from the date of "judicial demand", applying the Louisiana statute. The defendant appealed on the interest point only. We quote from the decision, commencing at page 853:

"In all actions for personal injuries brought under the Federal Employers' Liability Act, the remedy given by that statute is exclusive, and all state laws are superseded in so far as they attempt to cover the same field. At the time the Act was enacted, interest was not allowable on claims for personal injuries until the amount of damages had been judicially ascertained. This was upon the theory that no debt was due prior thereto or that interest was a part of the damages and was merged therewith in the amount awarded . . ."

"The determination that interest was not properly allowable from the date of judicial demand gives rise to the inquiry as to the date from which it should begin to run. The only applicable federal statute, Section 966 of the Revised Statutes, provides that interest shall be allowed from date thereof on all judgments in civil causes recovered in a district court. Under this statute, as appellant admits, appellee was entitled to interest at least from the date of entry of judgment on the mandate. It has been held to be within the equity of Section 966 of the Revised Statutes to award interest from the date of the verdict where, without fault of the plaintiff, an appreciable time has elapsed between the rendition of the verdict and the entry of the judgment. Moreover, Rule 58 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, 28 U.S.C.A. following section 723c,

provides that, unless the court otherwise directs, judgment upon the verdict of a jury shall be entered forthwith by the clerk. Under said rule, *the date of the verdict and the date when the judgment should have been entered* are the same in this case. For these reasons, we conclude that plaintiff below was entitled to interest from the date judgment should have been entered as required by said Rule 58. Such award is within the equity of the federal interest statute on judgments, and is not inconsistent with the Federal Employers' Liability Act. (Italics ours)

“The judgment appealed from is reversed, and the cause remanded to the district court with instructions to enter judgment for the amount awarded by the jury with interest thereon from the date of the verdict.”

Another Fifth Circuit case is that of *Givens vs. Missouri-Kansas-Texas R. Co. of Texas*, 196 F. 2d 905. For the convenience of the court, we set forth the decision in its entirety.

“By the mandate of this court issued April 23rd, 1952, the judgment of the district court overruling the plaintiff's motion for judgment in the amount of \$12,000.00 was reversed with instructions to enter such a judgment on the verdict of the jury. The appellant, plaintiff below, now moves the court to amend its mandate so as to direct that the judgment to be entered by the district court provide for interest at the rate of six per cent (6%) per annum from the 7th day of December, 1950, the date the plaintiff below filed his motion for judgment on the verdict of the jury. In so moving to amend this court's mandate, the appellant is following the proper procedure as approved by the Supreme Court in

Briggs v. Pennsylvania Railroad Co., 334 U. S. 304, 306, 68 S. Ct. 1039, 92 L. Ed. 1403. In the same case the Second Circuit had also indicated that this was the appropriate procedure. 164 F. 2d 21, 23, 1 A.L.R. 2d 475.

“In that case the Supreme Court had granted certiorari to resolve a conflict between the decision of the Second Circuit and a decision of this circuit in Louisiana & Arkansas R. Co. v. Pratt, 142 F. 2d 847, 153 A.L.R. 851. In the Second Circuit case no motion to amend the mandate had been made during the term at which it was entered and both the Second Circuit and the Supreme Court on certiorari pretermitted a decision of the question of whether on proper application interest should be allowed from the day on which the plaintiff was originally entitled to judgment in the district court.

“It is provided in mandatory terms by 28 U.S.C.A. 1961 that ‘Interest shall be allowed on any money judgment in a civil case recovered in a district court.’ That section further provides that ‘Such interest shall be calculated from the date of the entry of the judgment, at the rate allowed by State law.’ The law of Texas as set out in Article 5072, Revised Civil Statutes of Texas, provides that interest on judgments shall be at the rate of six per cent (6%) per annum. Rule 58, F.R.C.P., 28 U.S.C.A., provides that judgment upon the verdict of the jury shall be entered forthwith by the clerk unless the court otherwise directs.

“The verdict of the jury was in response to forty special issues and was rendered on December 4th, 1950. On December 7th, 1950 both the plaintiff and the defendant moved for judgment on the jury’s verdict. It was not until February

13th, 1951 that the district court decided these motions and entered judgment for the defendant. In *Briggs v. Pennsylvania R. Co.*, 164 F. 2d 21, 22, Judge Chase speaking for that circuit said:

‘Since no judgment could have been entered until the motion pending after verdict had been decided by the trial court, no interest can be allowed between the date of the verdict and May 28, 1945 when that motion was decided and the judgment for the defendant was erroneously entered.’

“We think that our decision in *Louisiana & Arkansas R. Co. v. Pratt*, *supra*, was in all respects sound. Accordingly it is ordered and adjudged that the mandate of this court heretofore issued on the 23rd day of April, 1952 be recalled and that an amended mandate be issued to provide that the judgment in the amount of \$12,000.00 to be entered by the district court shall provide also for interest on that amount from the 13th day of February, 1951. To that extent the motion to amend the mandate is granted.”

In *Coyle Lines, Inc. vs. United States*, C.C.A. 5th, 198 F. 2d 195, the court again re-affirmed the principal which we desire this court to apply in the case at bar. That case was a suit in admiralty. At the trial, the court found the libelant had been damaged in the sum of \$21,661.35 but also found mutual fault on the part of both parties, and, therefore, gave judgment to the libelant in the amount of \$10,830.67. In the first appeal from this judgment reported in 195 F. 2d 737, the Fifth Circuit Court found that the United States was solely at fault, and reversed the judgment of the trial court

directing that the libelant be awarded the full amount of its damages with interest and costs. The case came up to the Circuit Court again on the interest question and was reported in 198 F. 2d 195. In that case, the court ruled that interest should be allowed from the date libelant was originally entitled to judgment. The applicable federal law referred to in the opinion allowed interest at the rate of 4% per annum against the Government upon the money judgment. The court said at page 196:

“The interest on the damages should be calculated at the rate of 4% per annum until satisfied and should run from April 25, 1951, the date on which the libelant was originally entitled to judgment in the district court.”

Subsequently, the Fifth Circuit Court re-asserted the rule in the case of *Wright vs. Paramount-Richards Theatres, Inc., et al.*, C.C.A. 5th, 198 F. 2d 303. The jury in that case returned a verdict for the plaintiff in the amount of \$16,000.00. Subsequently, the motion for the judgment notwithstanding the verdict was granted, and the judgment entered for the defendants. The court reversed the trial court judgment, saying (at page 308):

“The cause is reversed with instructions to enter judgment on the verdict of the jury in favor of the plaintiff in the amount of \$16,000.00 with interest from the date on which said judgment should have been entered, April 23, 1951. See opinion on motion to amend mandate, May 27, 1952, in *Givens vs. Missouri-Kansas-Texas R. Co.*, 5th Cir., 196 F. 2d 905.”

Finally, in the case of *Yarno vs. Hedlund Box and Lumber Co.* (Calif.) 237 P. 1002, the jury gave a verdict for \$22,310 on breach of contract. On appeal the court ruled that the judgment should be reversed and the cause remanded with instructions to ascertain the worth of the recovery at the time of the return of the verdict in accordance with directions given in the opinion. The trial court was ordered to enter a judgment for the reduced amount. Thereafter, the trial court found the worth of the recovery at the time of the return of the verdict was \$19,065.69 and allowed interest thereon in the amount of \$1445.69 from the original date of the judgment. The defendant appealed from that portion of the judgment which allowed interest, and the judgment was affirmed.

CONCLUSION

At the time the verdict was handed down by the jury and the judgment on the verdict was entered in this case, the amount of plaintiff's damages became liquidated and were definite of ascertainment, and the plaintiff under the statutes of this state is entitled to interest upon that liquidated claim during the period in which he was prevented from having the use of the money. The plaintiff would not receive full justice under the law upon reinstatement of the verdict unless such interest is allowed. We respectfully conclude that the order of the district court should be reversed; that the cause should be remanded to the trial court with instructions

to enter a judgment in favor of the plaintiff for interest
or the judgment on the verdict from April 23, 1953.