1956

Jack Aldon Hewitt v. The General Tire and Rubber Co. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent agrees with the Statment of Facts set forth in Appellant's Brief.

STATEMENT OF POINT UPON WHICH
RESPONDENT RELIES

The appellant is not entitled to interest on the verdict returned by the jury on April 23, 1953, until paid.

ARGUMENT

At the conclusion of the evidence at the trial of the above-entitled cause, defendant moved for a directed verdict. The motion was not immediately

ruled upon but was withheld pending the jury's verdict. The verdict was for the plaintiff, whereupon defendant moved for judgment in its favor notwithstanding the verdict, which motion was granted. The mere fact that the clerk entered a judgment on the verdict before the court had ruled on the motion for a directed verdict and before the court granted the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict could, of course, be of no avail to the plaintiff. The clerk, performing a ministerial act, could give no validity to the verdict during the period that the court had reserved its ruling—that is, while it had the defendant's motion under advisement — nor could the clerk's judgment be of any validity as against the ruling of the court giving judgment notwithstanding the verdict.

Now the real question is: From what date was the plaintiff entitled to interest upon the judgment which the Supreme Court, in reversing the trial court, ordered to be entered on the verdict? Plaintiff claims he should receive interest from the date of the verdict while defendant contends that it is the date the judgment in favor of the plaintiff was actually entered from which interest should be computed.

Counsel for plaintiff considers the question settled by Rule 54-E of the Rules of Civil Procedure which provides:

“(e) The clerk must include in any judgment signed by him any *interest on the verdict* or decision from the time it was rendered, and the costs, if the same have been taxed or ascertained. The clerk must, within two days after the costs have been taxed or ascertained, in any case where not included in the judgment, insert the amount thereof in a blank left in the judgment for that purpose, and make a similar notation thereof in the Register of Actions and in the Judgment Docket.”

It will be noted that this rule directs the clerk to include in any judgment signed by him “*interest on the verdict* or decision from the time it was rendered”. This rule flies in the face of our statute, Section 15-1-4, which provides:

“Any *judgment* rendered on a lawful contract shall conform thereto and shall bear the interest agreed upon by the parties, which shall be specified in the judgment; other judgments shall bear interest at the rate of eight per cent per annum.”

As the statute provides that “other *judgments* shall bear interest at the rate of 8% per annum” there can be no interest for a judgment to bear until the judgment is entered. The Enabling Act for the Rules of Civil Procedure provides that the rules “may not abridge, enlarge or modify the substantive rights of any litigant”, and Rule 54-E, which attempts to authorize the clerk to “include in any judgment signed by him any *interest on the verdict*

or decision from the time it was rendered" is an enlargement of the rights of the plaintiff and is to that extent a nullity.

Counsel cites a number of cases which he claims justify his contention that interest should be computed from the date of the verdict, but when examined none of them support him. In *Bond v. United States Railroad* (Cal.) (Pltfs. Br. P. 3) 113 P.2d 366 the statute expressly directs that "the clerk must include in the judgment entered up by him any interest *on the verdict* or decision of the court from the date it was rendered". This is the same provision contained in our Rule 54-E and the case is not authority for the construction of our statute. The same is true of the other California cases cited at PP-4-5 of plaintiff's brief. In the case of *Metcalfe v. City of Watertown*, 68 F. 859, (Appls. Br. P. 6) a Wisconsin statute provided for *interest from the date of the verdict*. In *Louisiana and Arkansas Railway Company v. Pratt*, 142 F. 2d 847 (Appls. Br. P. 6) the court held it was proper to allow interest from the date of the verdict because *Section 966 Revised Statute authorized it to be done*. In *Givens v. Missouri-Kansas etc. Railroad*, 196 F. 2d 905 (Appls. Br. PP-8-9) the court expressly relies on the case of *Louisiana et. Railway Co. v. Pratt* and allows interest from the date of the verdict presumably for the same reason given by the court in that

case, and in *Wright v. Paramount Richards Theaters, Inc.*, 198 F. 2d 303 (Applts. Br. P. 11) the Givens case is relied on as authority. These Federal cases therefore are really based upon Section 966 which authorizes the computation of interest from the date of the verdict. The last case cited by counsel, *Yarno v. Hedlund, etc. Co.* (Cal.) 237 P. 1002 (Applts. Br. P. 12) is not authority in this case because, as before stated, the California statute expressly directs that interest be computed from the date of the verdict.

Let us now call the court's attention to authorities that *are* in point. As before stated, Utah has no statute which allows interest from the date of the verdict in a personal injury case, and Rule 54-E, cannot confer a right to interest from that date. The statute controls the rule and interest can only be computed from the date of the judgment.

The allowance of interest is purely a statutory matter. It can make no difference that there is a delay between the date of the verdict and the date of the entry of the judgment, for a defendant has a right at all stages to contest the validity or amount of the verdict, and the mere fact that the plaintiff is unable to collect the amount of his verdict because of proceedings on appeal or otherwise, does not confer upon him any right to claim interest from the date the verdict is rendered, and this is especially

true when the verdict is set aside, or its effectiveness suspended, as in this case. Here there was neither verdict nor judgment for the plaintiff until the Supreme Court reinstated the verdict and ordered judgment thereon. This question of the right to interest has been before many courts and it has been repeatedly held that where the statute does not expressly allow interest to be computed from the date of the verdict, interest is not allowable from such date.

“Where plaintiff recovers a verdict for slander and a motion for new trial was not disposed of until the following term, when it was overruled and judgment entered on the verdict; held: the trial court erred in adding interest from the date of the verdict to the date of the judgment since the recovery was not on a claim bearing interest and there was no statutory authority for interest on verdicts.”

Blickenstaff v. Perrin, 27 Ind. 527; *Atherton v. Fowler*, 46 Calif. 320; *Clyde Mill and Elevator Co. v. Buoy* (Kansas) 80 P. 591; *Baltimore City etc. R.R. Co. v. Sewell*, 37 Md. 443; *Kelsey v. Murphy*, 30 Pa. 340.

In every one of the above states in which said decisions were rendered, a later statute was passed directing the computation of interest from the date of the verdict and there are therefore a number of cases from each of said states wherein interest from such date was allowed, based upon said statute.

The reasons for the disallowance of interest from the date of the verdict, in the absence of a statute, are well stated in the note to I ALR (2), Page 493:

“In *Baltimore City Pass. R. Co. v. Sewell* (1873) 37 Md. 443, after a verdict for the plaintiff, the defendant filed motions for a new trial and in arrest of judgment which were subsequently overruled, and on appeal the overruling of the motions was affirmed. On remand, the trial court, on motion of the plaintiff, entered judgment for the amount of the verdict with interest from the date of the verdict, and the defendant appealed, contending that interest could run only from the date of the judgment. After reviewing the common-law principles and previous decisions the court said: ‘The verdict being an intermediate step in the progress of litigation, liable to be suspended or annulled by the subsequent action of the Court, it does not seem to us consistent with judicial deliberation that the delay occasioned by motions for a new trial, or in arrest of judgment (although such motions should be ultimately overruled) should be made the occasion of an increase of damages, by way of interest, on the presumption that such motions were groundless, and without cause. The motion for a new trial, or in arrest, is a valuable and necessary incident to the right of trial by jury, and no restraint should be placed upon it inconsistent with its freest exercise. The Court cannot assume that in the exercise of a legal right, any party to a cause is actuated by sinister motives.’ The judgment was reversed as to the interest

accruing between the date of the verdict and entry of the judgment, and the cause remanded for modification in that respect. (But see *Hodgson v. Phippin* (1930) 159 Md. 97, 150 A. 118, *infra*, Sec. 10, decided under a later statute expressly authorizing interest from date of verdict.)

“In reversing an order of the trial court allowing interest from the date of the verdict after affirmance of a judgment for the plaintiff, entry of which had been delayed some eleven months by pendency of the defendant’s motions in arrest of judgment and for a new trial, in *Kelsey v. Murphy* (1858) 30 Pa. 340, the court stated that from the definitions of interest, differing but little in essentials, two things must necessarily pre-exist to raise the duty on the part of the debtor to discharge his debt, namely, the ascertainment of the amount to be paid, and its maturity. The court then said: ‘If these essentials are wanting, the debt, although existing, cannot be said to be due and withheld, and the duty to pay has not become imperative upon the debtor. Unliquidated demands, past due, will, if otherwise entitled, bear interest, upon the maxim of *id certum est quod certum reddi potest*. They can be rendered certain. But while the question of indebtedness, under all the ascertained facts in the case is under consideration in the courts, as is the case on a motion for a new trial, the contract of the debtor is suspended. The case is in *gremio legis*, and is presumed to be held under consideration by the ministers of the law. The debtor can neither pay, nor tender, so as to avail anything, even if disposed to abandon the contest. It is em-

phatically, and intruth, the 'law's delay' . . . While, therefor, the very essence of the contest is being considered, and the result is in dubio, it is easy to see, that no duty rests upon the party ultimately liable to pay, as long as that condition lasts, and of course he ought not to be obliged to make compensation to the opposite party, because it exists and continues for a time. That the proceeding is still immature, when a verdict is rendered, is apparent, when we consider that it is in a condition on which no process can issue, and on which no action can be maintained, and is no lien on either real or personal estate. For these and other reasons, neither the common law of England, nor the practice there, or with us, have sanctioned the collection of interest as incidental to a verdict during the pendency of a motion for a new trial.

"In *Kansas City, Ft. S. & M. R. Co. v. Berry* (1895) 55 Kan. 186, 40 P. 288, the trial court, refusing to receive and enter the jury's general verdict for the plaintiff, directed a general verdict for the defendant upon which it entered judgment. The judgment was reversed on appeal and the cause remanded with directions that judgment be entered for the plaintiff for the amount of the verdict, and in entering judgment on the supreme court's mandate, the trial court added interest from the date of the return of the verdict. In modifying the judgment so as to eliminate the interest prior to the entry of judgment, the supreme court observed that while interest on verdicts was expressly allowed by statute in some states it was not in Kansas, and that it was unnecessary to de-

cide whether a verdict bore interest from the time of its rendition, holding that since the verdict was not recognized or received by the trial court until it was done in obedience to the mandate of the supreme court, the verdict was then for the first time given force and vitality.

“And in *Clyde Mill. & Elev. Co. v. Buoy* (1905) 71 Kan. 293, 80 P. 591, wherein, after having obtained a verdict, the plaintiff appealed from an order of the trial court granting the defendant a new trial, and the order of the trial court was reversed with direction to enter judgment on the findings and verdict, and the trial court entered judgment including therein interest on the amount of the verdict up to the date of the judgment, from which action the defendant appealed, it was held that the allowance of interest upon the amount awarded by the verdict from its date to the entry of judgment was not authorized by the statute (Sec. 3590, General Statutes 1901) regulating matters of interest.

“But for Kansas cases under a later statute, see *infra*, Sec. 11.

“It was held in *Campbell v. Elkins* (1905) 58 W. Va. 308, 52 SE 220, 2 LRA NS 159, that in a personal injury action wherein a verdict was rendered for the plaintiff the subsequent rendition of judgment for the amount thereof with interest from the date of the verdict was in strict obedience to the mandate of the statute (Code 1899, c 131, Sec. 16). The court stated: ‘Prior to the Acts of 1882, Chapter 120, amending certain sections of the Code, including sections 14 and 16, this would have been error . . .’

“In *Easter v. Virginian R. Co.* (1915) 76 W. Va. 383, 86 SE 37, a personal injury action, in reversing a judgment of the trial court entered on a verdict previously rendered in favor of the plaintiff and allowing interest from the date of the verdict, it was held that in tort actions interest runs only from the date of the judgment under the statute (Sec. 18, c 131, Code of 1913, Sec. 4927) providing that every judgment or decree for the payment of money, except where it is otherwise provided by law, should bear interest from the date thereof, whether or not it is so stated in the judgment or decree. The court stated that Sec. 14 (Sec. 4923) of the same chapter authorizes a judgment for interest from the date of the verdict only in case of actions founded on contract, and that, the judgment in the present case being for a tort, there was no authority in law for giving judgment for interest, except from the date of the judgment.”

In *Hazel E. Briggs, Admrx. etc., of Ralph Briggs, deceased v. Pennsylvania Railroad Company*, Appt. 154 F (2) 21, the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit had before it a statute which provides that interest be calculated “from the date of judgment”. The facts of that case as outlined in the opinion of the court were:

“ . . . During the trial a motion to dismiss the suit for lack of jurisdiction was made by the defendant. The court reserved decision on the motion and submitted the cause to the jury, which, on February 15, 1945, returned

a plaintiff's verdict. The motion to dismiss was granted, however, on April 19, 1945, and judgment for the defendant was duly entered. We reversed that judgment on January 7, 1946, and by mandate of January 23, 1946, directed that judgment on the verdict for the plaintiff be entered. We neither did, nor were we requested to, give any directions as to interest. On January 28, 1946, the judgment on our mandate was entered for the amount of the verdict and for interest from the date of the verdict as above stated."

The court then went on to hold:

"The remaining question is whether interest should be allowed from the date the judgment for the plaintiff on the verdict would, in the absence of error in decision, have been entered, viz., the date when the original judgment for the defendant was entered by the order of the court; or from January 28, 1946, the date when judgment for the plaintiff was actually entered after our mandate went down. And if the latter date is the correct one, we must decide whether we now have any power to amend that mandate to make the judgment date nunc pro tunc that of the original judgment and, if so, whether that power ought to be exercised.

"It is true that subsequent events have shown that on the date of the original judgment the plaintiff was entitled to have a judgment entered on the verdict and this judgment would have borne interest until it was paid. But from a practical standpoint, it is equally true that the plaintiff then was 'entitled' only to have the trial judge decide

the pending motions and direct the entry of such judgment as he fairly determined to be lawful and just. That is exactly what the trial judge did. Thereafter the plaintiff was 'entitled' only to take whatever action by way of appellate review the law afforded her. The delay in the entry of the proper judgment was necessary in the sense that time for appellate review was required; it was only after the ordinary appellate proceedings had been completed that the plaintiff's cause of action had reached the point where her right to a judgment on the verdict was judicially established. That judgment was then promptly entered. The date of its entry became the judgment date from which interest is to be computed under the statute. It was, under the circumstances, the first day when the judgment could have been entered."

Although the case involved the question of whether interest should run on the verdict of the jury, the reasoning in a Washington case, *Kiessling v. North West Greyhound Lines*, 229 P2 335, is applicable here.

"The verdict of the jury was returned May 13, 1950. Judgment on the verdict was entered July 7, 1950. The court allowed interest on the amount of the verdict from its rendition to the entry of judgment. There is no statute in this state providing for the accrual of interest from the date of a verdict. Rem. Rev. Stat. Sec. 457 provides for interest on judgments from the date of entry thereof. It is argued that inasmuch as a demand becomes liquidated when a verdict is returned, the rule that interest commences to run from

that time should be applied; also, because verdict when entered upon the execution docket as required by Rem. Rev. Stat. Sec. 431-1, is in effect a lien upon real property, it must follow that interest commences to run from the date of verdict. However, in the cases of Rood v. Horton, 132 Wash. 82, 231 P. 450 (Verdict of the jury) and Phifer v. Burton, 141 Wash. 186, 251 P. 127 (Award by the Court) it was decided that interest ran from the date of the judgment only. The theory upon which the decisions were based was that the demands had not become liquidated until the verdict of the jury or award made by the court had become merged in the judgment thereafter entered. The verdict of a jury or a pronouncement of the court determines and fixes a definite amount of recovery, but the demand is not fully liquidated until the entry of judgment for the reason that the court may grant a new trial because the award is excessive or insufficient; or may raise or lower the amount and afford the party adversely affected the option to accept the same or submit to a new trial of the case, or, in the case of an award by the court, the trial judge may change his mind and make a different award than included in the original pronouncement. We think the principle involved has been settled by Buob v. Frenaughty Machinery Company, 4 Wash. (2) 276, 300, 103 P (2) 325. The case involved a claim for unliquidated damages. The court made an award of damages, but on appeal the case was remanded for further consideration. On the second hearing the amount of the damages was determined but the court did not make any findings or conclusions. Subsequently,

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